Comhairle Cathrach
‘ Bhaile Atha Cliath
i Dublin City Council

NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE PROTOCOL COMMITTEE

TO BE HELD BY REMOTE VIDEO CONFERENCE ON THURSDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2023 AT

8.00 AM

AGENDA

THURSDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2023

Election of the Chair of the Protocol Committee

Election of the Vice Chair of the Protocol Committee

Minutes of the meeting held on 29th June 2023 and matters arising

Lord Mayors Receptions and Engagements of the Deputy Lord Mayor

Request for retrospective approval for Councillor attendance at the Conference
'Il_li?n?terrci)(f:ilt(t.ing Ireland: Building Resilience in Irish Homes" held on 28th July 2023 in

Conference Reports:

a) Councillor Declan Flanagan and Councillor Joe Costello: AILG Module 4
on 22nd July 2023 in County Sligo.

b) Councillor Dermot Lacey: MacGill Summer School on 16th August 2023 in
Glenties, County Donegal.

c) Councillor Darcy Lonergan: Retrofitting Ireland: Building Resilience in Irish
Homes" held on 28th July 2023 in County Limerick.

Attendance at Local Community Development Committee meetings

Request from the Collections Registrar with the Office Of Public Works for aloan
of three items from the Dublin Civic Regalia Collection to use in a 2024 exhibition
at Dublin Castle entitled 'Dublin Gold and Silver Boxes, 1662-1830'.

e Thomas Bolton, The Williamson cup, silver, ¢.1696.

e Thomas Bolton, The Foynes cup, silver, c.1700

e Unknown artist, Portrait of Daniel Bellingham.

PAGE

12

13



10

11

12

13

14

Policy regarding Maximum / Minimum Temperatures in City Hall

Hybrid Meeting Facilities in the Richard O'Carroll Room

Social Enterprises Guide for Councillors - Briefing form Cllr. Cat O'Driscoll

St. Patrick's Festival

a) Correspondence from the Acting Chairperson of the St. Patrick's Festival

b) Decision by the Office of the Information Commissioner in relation to the
Governance Report on the Board St. Patrick's Festival

Lighting Requests for City Hall

a) Request from the Canadian Air Force to illuminate City Hall on 1st April
2024 to commemorate the Royal Canadian Air Force Centennial

b) Request from Charity Praxis Care to illuminate City Hall on 3rd July 2024
to commemorate the charities 40th Anniversary

Following the Local Elections in June 2024 a new Protocol
Committee will not be established in time to make a decision on this
request.

C) Additional requests to illuminate City Hall in September, October and
November 2023

Motion in the name of Councillor Mannix Flynn:

That this Protocol Committee notes with concern two recent incidences where
members of the press were effectively banned/censored from attending what are
normally meetings open to the public and the press.

The first meeting was a meeting of the Protocol Committee with regards the
nomination of Greta Thunberg for honorary freedom of the city. The press were
instructed to leave the meeting. No particular reason was given and no prior
warning was given to Councillors instead standing orders were ill-used in this
instance bearing in mind that the group leaders who had been informed of
nomination for the freedom of the city of Dublin such Duncan Stewart - why were
they not informed of Greta Thunberg’s nomination? instead this was done with
cloak and dagger and secrecy at the Protocol committee. This has the potential
to damage the integrity of the Protocol committee and its members by
undermining its independence, its transparency and its support for Freedom of the
press and most importantly of all- access for the public.

The second incident was regarding an emergency meeting of the Joint Policing
Committee which was held on 23rd of June. Again in this instance for some odd
reason the Press were locked out. Nobody was informed of this prior to the
meeting and indeed a local community group representing City Quay residents,
was also locked out of the meeting. In the 14 years i have been in DCC | have
never witnessed to such erosion of public and press freedom. There seems to be
a great lack of protocol and procedure as to how the public and press can be
removed from what are essentially public meetings.

Therefore this committee noting these concerns, carry out a full review and

14 -16

17 -18

19-35

36



oversight of such procedures to make sure they are fit for purpose, democratic
and fully transparent and are only executed in extraordinary circumstances.

It's important to note that in these two incidents it was the media outlet Dublin Live
that was excluded and its reporter, Dan Grennan but | am sure if other media
outlets turned up or other reporters they would have faced the same exclusion.

15 Manager's Report

16 A.O.B.

17 Proposed date of next meeting: 26th October 2023 at 8am

Ruth Dowling
Senior Executive Officer



Combhairle Cathrach

ﬁi Bhaile Atha C|
i bhaile Atha Cliath

Dublin City Council

MINUTES OF THE PROTOCOL COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY 29 JUNE 2023

1 Minutes of the meetings held on 1st June and 7th June 2023 and matters
arising

Order : Agreed.

Matters arsing included the following :

Members requested an update on the position re. green waste. The Manager
agreed to follow up with John Flanagan, Assistant Chief Executive and to email
an update to the Members.

An update was also sought on the unredacted copy of the St. Patrick’s Festival
Review. The Manager informed Members that the Department who
commissioned the report were still awaiting a decision of the Office of Information
Commissioner.

The Members requested that the Dublin MEPs be circulated with copies of
correspondence in relation to EU wide legislation to combat online abuse (item 8
on the minutes).

Lord Mayors Receptions and Engagements of the Deputy Lord Mayor
Reports noted. It was proposed and agreed that former Lord Mayors would be
invited to future Freedom of the City Functions and other major Civic Events.

3 Proposal to enter into a Friendship Agreement with the City of Ramallah,
Palestine
The Members commended Fanchea Gibson for her work in drawing up the
proposed friendship agreement. The Members welcomed the support of the
Department of Foreign Affairs. The priorities outlined with the agreement were
noted, members suggested that community development could also be
incorporated as a priority.
Order : Establishment of a Friendship agreement and delegation of elected
Members to be led by the Lord Mayor (or nominated representative) and Chairs or
nominated representatives of the Climate Action, Environment and Energy SPC,
Economic Development and Enterprise SPC and Traffic and Transport SPC.
It was also agreed that Clir Doolan would be included in the Autumn delegation.

4 Vouched Expenses Management System

Joanna Travers from the CE Department gave a presentation to the Members on
an expenses app that could assist in completing quarterly vouched expenses
returns. The Members welcomed the opportunity to trial the app. The Manager
assured Members that it was voluntary and that the two systems would run in
tandem.

Page 4




Heating and Air Conditioning in the Council Chamber

The Manager informed Members that HVAC had carried out a complete survey
and identified areas to be remedied, these works would be complete before the
next Council meeting.

Clir O’Driscoll requested that a policy around minimum and maximum
temperatures would be developed for City Hall. The Manager will discuss with
HVAC and Health & Safety and revert to the Committee.

Request to illuminate City Hall on Thursday 22nd February 2024 in support
of World Encephalitis Day

Order: This request was agreed.
Manager's Report

Noted that the Election of a Chairperson and Vice Chairperson would be listed in
September as there is no meeting in July or August.

A.O.B.
The following items were discussed:

e Request that the MacGill Summer School would be included as an
approved conference as was the case in previous years.
Order : Agreed

e The Members approved Clir Donna Cooney’s request to use her
conference allowance for attendance at the “Mobility for all” conference on
16" November in Oslo, Norway.

e The Members raised the issue of the notice period for events. It was
agreed that at least 1 week notice would be given.

e The issue of planting on the steps of the Mansion House was raised. The
Manager confirmed that the planting had already been removed from the
steps.

e Members requested that a reminder should issue to Group Leaders
outlining the procedures for the informal event in the Mansion House after
an election of a Lord Mayor.

Proposed date of next meeting: 21st September 2023 at 8am

Agreed.

Clir. Dermot Lacey

Deputy Chairperson
Thursday 29 June 2023

Page 5



Attendance:
Members:

Racheal Batten

Joe Costello

Janet Horner

Micheal MacDonncha
Cat O'Driscoll

Officers
Ruth Dowling

Members:

Anthony Connaghan
Anne Feeney
Dermot Lacey
Briege MacOscar
Michael Pidgeon

Joanna Travers

Page 6

Members:

Donna Cooney
Mannix Flynn
Darcy Lonergan
Naoise O Muiri
Noeleen Reilly

Fanchea Gibson



20/09/2023

Ms. Ruth Dowling,

Senior Executive Officer,
Chief Executive’s Department

Dear Ruth,

Ardmbhéara Bhaile Atha Cliath
Lotrd Mayot of Dublin

Daithi de Roiste

Please see below, list of functions, receptions and events in which | had a Deputy/Representative attend on my
behalf from July 2023 to August 2023:

Date: Function: DLM/CIir:
Hraes | Courtesy call from French Naval Ship FS SYNX Captain | Clir Paddy McCartan
14fR0%s France National Day Remembrance Ceremony Clir Sophie Nicollaud
18/7/2023 Unveiling of a plaque at Poole House Clir Joe Costello
BTN Soroptimist International Reception Clir Dermot Lacey
28/7/2023 Funeral service of Tom Brennan Clir Tom Brabazon
=R Tiglin 'Grill and Chill' Community Event ClIr Mannix Flynn
R0 Annual Commemoration of the Hiroshima Bombing Clir Danny Byrne
RS0 India Day Celebration Clir Racheal Batten
19/8/2023 Dublin Ratha Yatra Festival of Chariots Clir Donna Cooney
24/8/2023 Ukraine Independence Day Clir Dermot Lacey
25/8/2023 ;;rlggtt;rtfa?;quglléttpCornpetmon for the Cup' Reception and | i Deirdre Heney

Yours sincerely,

Daithi de Roiste

Lord Mayor of Dublin

Teach an Ardmbéara, Srdid Désain, Baile Atha Cliath 2, D02 AF30, Eire.
Page 7 Mansion House, Dawson Street, Dublin 2, D02 AF30, Ireland.
T. 222 6200 E. lordmayor@dublincity.ie



20/09/2023

Ms. Ruth Dowling

Senior Executive Officer
Chief Executive’s Department

Dear Ruth,

Ardmhéara Bhaile Atha Cliath
Lord Mayor of Dublin

Daithi de Roiste

| would be obliged if you would bring the following receptions for the month of August 2023 to the attention
of the Protocol Committee:

Date Function Nos
8/3/2023 Beaumont Hospital Lifetime Achievement Awards -
811012923 | Greup froi Gabra 2
8/19/2023 | Atternoon Tea i
8/21/2023 | phjlip Lynott Book Launch -
8/28/2023 | Midas Productions Filming Episode for 'STAMPAI' — Room Only |7
8/31/12023 | gpecial Olympics Ireland =
8/31/2023 | patrick Osborne Book Launch 80

Yours sincerely,

Daithi de Rdiste

Lord Mayor of Dublin

Teach an Ardmbéara, Sriid Disain, Baile Atha Cliath 2, D02 AF30, Eire.
Pag e]gamz'on House, Dawson Street, Dublin 2, D02 AF30, Ireland.

T, 222 6200 E. lordmayor@dublincity.ze



Page 9



Comhairle Cathrach

‘ u Bhaile A Cliatl
i Bhaile Atha Cliath

Dublin City Council

Report to the Protocol Committee for noting and referral to the City Council

Councillor Name Joe Costello

Conference/Seminar Name AILG Training

Conference/Seminar Topic Irish Water

Venue/Location Radisson Blu Hotel, Rosses Point, Sligo

Date (s) of Conference 22 July 2023

Brief Summary

The Conference addressed the role of Uisce Eireann vis-a-vis the local authorities and the
investment required to provide quality urban and rural supply and the communications service
for the public and local councillors.

Recommendations

It was an extremely informative conference. Each local authority would benefit greatly from a
presentation from Uise Eireann and Dublin Councils in particular.

Declaration

| certify that | attended the above-mentioned Conference/Training Seminar.

Signed by Date

26 July 2023

Toe (ods

Page 10




Page 11



Combhairle Cathrach
Bhaile Atha Cliath
Dubtlin City Council

”‘ﬁ

Report to the Protocol Committee for noting and referral to the City Council

Councillor Name Depmol LAcey
Conference/Seminar Name M A J‘/(L L SuvMiee Cclool
Confe‘rence/ Seminar Topic VAR NATvowg nm>l //Z 7;;.'@:/},:('7.04'; 2,;“ N

- HitHLANDS Hotel
Venue/Location mem [O.DoneshL

Date (s) of Conference

Brief Summary

IN TeAnglian g, 7 EHAS

L LiaTe  CHANGS »
/SeCA4 Do

P i N ’/BLL[ 6‘9,\'{ 2 ” |

ﬂl/ﬂ(wm,ﬂ ; S0LliZcnc AEFAAS  — s C e

o Dowes e

Qaver e o Sk

M ¢ b5

Recommendations

n co . ) 2\ ,47/f’m;>
Z:Mfovﬂ/zlﬁt’ Covicie pr 70

S onbty  Lellwig A NET wakicnp  Off Tl

Declaration

| certify that | attended the above-mentioned Conference/Training Seminar.




Report to the Protocol Committee for noting and referral to the City Council

3 Darcy lonergan
Councillor Name arcy lonerg

Retrofitting lreland: Building resilience into Irish
Conference/Seminar Name homes

Conference/Seminar Topic Retrofitting

Venue/Location University of Limerick

Date (s) of Conference Friday, July 28

Brief Summary

Bringing together the decisions maker, the semi -state actors and business who are
playing a role in retrofitting Ireland in order to meet our EU/National targets. The
conference outlined the grants and supports available, some gaps within the system
and general information on navigating the system.

Recommendations

The main takeaway was the gaps within the systems:

e There is a high demand for retrofitting but not enough qualified people to carry it out.

* We don't provide visas for tradespeople therefore we can’t recruit them from other
countries.

» Need for access to more loans to cover the cost of retrofitting.

» There are no incentives for landlords to invest in retrofitting.

Declaration

| certify that | attended the above-mentioned Conference/Training Seminar.

Signed bx Date

31/08/2023

/

Az

Page 13




To the Members of the Protocol Committee

Combhairle Cathrach
) { Bhaile Atha Cliath
H Dublin City Council

Report on heating & cooling in City Hall

At the June meeting of Protocol the Members requested a report on the temperature levels
and controls (in situ) in City Hall and to examine the possibility of the introduction of minimum
and maximum temperatures.

The following report details the position in relation to current controls in place, options
examined and the current legislation in this area.

Council Chamber

Since the last meeting of protocol temperature readings have been taken in both the Chamber
and other areas in City hall including the new bookable meeting pods for Councillors. A
number of issues were identified by the Heating and ventilation unit including a spike in
temperature in the Chamber on 4" September last (shown below)

Figure 1 : Council Chamber temperatures.

Page 14



Following further investigation this was as a result of opening windows and increasing the fan
speed of the air handling unit which brought in hot summer air from outside (27 degrees
outside) via the windows and AHU therefore increasing the temperature inside.

It is acknowledged that even with the windows closed and the AHU's fan speed subsequently
reduced, concerns remain about the building's susceptibility to elevated temperatures during
periods of high external temperatures.

HVAC has submitted a proposal to Chief Executives outlining the installation of cooling
systems and associated controls within the AHU located on the rooftop, with a specific focus
on regulating the climate in the council chamber. The estimated cost for this localized cooling
solution for the Council Chamber is €64,985.

It will be important to consider all factors including cost of installation, increased energy usage
and fit with overall climate policy in determining whether to proceed with this proposal.

Basement Area

As Members are aware, works have been carried out in the basement of City Hall to create
two new party rooms and two small meeting rooms for Councillors. At present the basement
and the ground floor temperatures are ranging from 21-24DegC approximately. HVAC have
received complaints regarding overheating issues specifically related to the pods situated in
the basement area.

Following investigation, the recently installed Air Handling Unit (AHU) by the contractor had
experienced a controller lockout, rendering it incapable of adjusting temperature settings. The
controller had been originally set at 25DegC and was inaccessible due to this lockout. This
issue has now been resolved. However, there are continuing discussions with the contractor
as there are a number of other issues with the basement AHU.

Regulations
The Safety, Health and Welfare at Work (General Application) Regulations 2007, is the Irish

legislation governing workplace conditions, including indoor air temperatures. The regulations
underscore the importance of providing a safe and comfortable working environment for
employees.

The regulations do not specify an exact numerical value for acceptable maximum indoor
temperature, however, they do state that ‘during working hours, the temperature in rooms
containing workstations is appropriate for human beings, having regard to the working
methods being used and the physical demands placed on the employees.

For sedentary office work, a minimum temperature of 17.5° C, so far as is reasonably
practicable, is achieved and maintained at every workstation after the first hour’s work and for
other sedentary work, at every workstation where a substantial proportion of the work is done
sitting and does not involve serious physical effort, a minimum temperature of 16°C is, so far
as is reasonably practicable, achieved and maintained after the first hour’s work’.

The Health and Safety Authority (HSA) is Ireland's national body for occupational health and
safety and provides further guidance on indoor temperatures in workplaces. The Health and
Safety Authority have recently published a Code of Practice on Indoor Air Quality. The working
temperatures within the Indoor Air Quality code of practice identifies a generally acceptable
levels as between 18-23 degrees celsius with optimum relative humidity being between 40%
and 70%. This document details a strategy of risk assessment and control of the many factors
that make up Air Quality. It requires a Dublin City Council wide approach to the matter of
Indoor Air Quality and it is recognised that it would have to encompass all Dublin City Council
work locations, including City Hall.

Page 15



Dublin City Council is committed to continue to provide good indoor air quality to its
employees. A Dublin City Council working group has been established to practically look at
the long term strategy of ventilation within its buildings, which includes heating and cooling of
the working environment, and to suggest ways that we can ensure employees are working in
optimal and comfortable temperatures both in the summer and winter months.

This group has representatives of Mechanical and Energy Efficiency Section, Facilities
Management and Health, Safety & Wellbeing Unit and is placed to advise Dublin City Council
management on the steps necessary to ensure the comfort and health of our employees going
forward with regard to ventilation, heating and cooling.

Recommendation
It is recommended that temperatures will continue to be monitored within City Hall and that
reports be available to Councillors. The Chief Executive’s Office will continue to liaise with the
newly established working group and will ensure that the input of Councillors is sought with
regard to City Hall.

Eoin Buttle
Senior Executive H&S Officer

Kieran Yeow

Executive Engineer (Mech. & Energy Efficiency Section)

13" September 2023.

Page 16



St. Patrick’s Sestival

Councillor Deirdre Heney,
Chairperson,

Protocol Committee,
Dublin City Council.

23" June 2023

Re: St. Patrick’s Festival

Dear Councillor Heney,

Thank you for your letter dated 22" December 2022 regarding representation on the Board of St.
Patrick's Festival. We appreciate and value the important role that the Festival plays in the lives of
Dublin's citizens and visitors, and we understand the significance of seeking Council representation
on the Board.

According to the St. Patrick's Festival Constitution, the authority to appoint Board Directors rests
with the Members of the St. Patrick's Festival Company. Consequently, | brought this matter before
the Members during the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on June 22nd, 2023. Having carefully
deliberated on the issue, | am now responding on behalf of and at the request of, the Members.

Firstly, | wish to draw attention to the significant legal and fiduciary responsibilities associated with
assuming a directorship position on the Board of St. Patrick's Festival. In line with the Charities
Governance Code and relevant company law, Directors of St. Patrick’s Festival have a duty to act in
the best interests of the charity; this requires Directors to act independently and not in line with
their own personal interest or the interest of other individuals or bodies. Should a local Councillor be
appointed to the Board of St. Patrick’s Festival, they would need to personally assume these
responsibilities and act in the best interests of the charity at all times.

While the Members appreciate the desire for Council representation on the Board, they must
carefully consider the potential conflicts that may arise when Councillors are required to prioritise
the best interests of St. Patrick's Festival, which may not always align with matters concerning Dublin
City Council. Balancing these dual responsibilities can present challenges, and it is the Members’
duty to ensure that Directors can fulfil their fiduciary obligations to the Company/Charity without
any hindrance or conflicting interests.

To address the abovementioned concerns, we propose a potential solution. We suggest establishing
a dedicated engagement forum in which members of the Executive can regularly meet with a
subgroup of relevant Council members. This engagement forum would serve as a platform for
briefing Council members on St. Patrick's Festival's activities, ensuring their involvement and input.
In this manner, Councillors can express their Council views and maintain interaction, while adhering
to the legal requirement for Directors to primarily act in the best interests of the Charity.

Furthermore, we would like to reassure you that we continue to wholeheartedly welcome the Lord
Mayor's attendance at Board meetings as an observing Director, as has been the customary practice.
This practice has been invaluable to St. Patrick’s Festival as a source of guidance and advice in

PATRON
Michael D. Higgins
President of Ireland Page 17



O St. Patrick’s Festival

Council matters, while ensuring that the Council's interests are well-represented during the decision-
making process, thereby maintaining a strong connection between St. Patrick's Festival and Dublin
City Council.

We believe that our proposed approach strikes a balance between the Council's desire for
involvement and the legal and practical considerations involved in appointing Directors. We look
forward to further discussing this proposed solution and working collaboratively to ensure the
continued success of St. Patrick's Festival.

Once again, thank you for your valuable input and understanding. Your ongoing support and
collaboration are greatly appreciated.

Yours sincerely,

Maree Gallagher
Acting Chairperson, St. Patrick’s Festival

PATRON

Michael D. Higgins
President of Ireland Page 18



CASE NUMBER: OIC-120660-L7C1T5

Whether the Department was justified in refusing access to two reports relating to the St.
Patrick’s Festival on the basis of sections 29, 35, 36 and 37 of the FOI Act

29 August 2023

Background
In a request dated 2 February 2022, the applicant sought copies of “all correspondence with

Dublin City Council and St. Patrick’s Festival on governance issues in the St Patrick’s
Festival from January 2018 to date”. He also sought copies of any governance reviews or
reports on the festival, and referenced one report in particular which he believed was carried
out.

Following an exchange of emails between the parties, the Department refused the request
under section 15(1)(c) of the Act, which provides for the refusal of a request where the FOI
body considers that granting the request would, by reason of the number or nature of the
records concerned or the nature of the information concerned, require the retrieval and
examination of such number of records or an examination of such kind of the records
concerned as to cause a substantial and unreasonable interference with or disruption of its
work. The applicant sought an internal review of that decision following which the

Department affirmed its refusal of the request.

On 14 March 2022, the applicant applied to this Office for a review of the Department’s
decision. In his application for review, he said the decision to reject his application for
records on the grounds there were too many records was taken without adequate
consultation. He said there was no proper attempt by the Department to advise him on how
to reduce the number of records captured by his request. He also said that the Department
had repeatedly indicated it was going to refuse to release two relevant specified reports
because of ongoing deliberations. He said he did not believe this exemption could be
applied indefinitely and would like to appeal that decision but that the Department had not

made a formal decision on it.

During the course of the review, the applicant indicated that he was happy to narrow the
scope of the request to two specific reports referenced by the Department in its decision-
making records. The Investigator asked the Department to outline its position in respect of
the two reports. On 17 August 2022, Department released redacted versions of the two
reports to the applicant along with correspondence outlining its decision-making in respect of

the reports. It redacted certain information under sections 29, 35, 36 and 37 of the Act. The

Page 19



applicant confirmed that he wished the review to proceed in relation to the redacted
information.

During the course of the review, and given the nature of the records in question, this Office
notified a third party, the St Patrick’s Festival Company (the Company), of the review and
invited it to make submissions, which were duly received and which have been considered in
full.

In the later stages of the review, this Office sought further submissions from the Department
in respect of a particular exemption ground. In its response, the Department indicated that
“given the passage of time and the evolved landscape”, it no longer had an objection to one
of the records and certain other information being released. However, in light of the
submissions made by the Company, | deemed it appropriate to continue the review and
consider the submissions made by the parties in turn.

I have now completed my review in accordance with section 22(2) of the FOI Act. In carrying
out my review | have had regard to the submissions made by the applicant, the Department
and the Company. | have also had regard to the contents of the records concerned. | have

decided to conclude this review by way of a formal, binding decision.

Scope of Review

As | have outlined above, the Department redacted certain information from the two reports
under sections 29, 35, 36 and 37 of the Act. While the Department had initially redacted
names of staff members of FOI bodies under section 37, which is concerned with the
protection of third party personal information, it subsequently said it was prepared to release
this information on the basis that section 37 does not apply. Moreover, during the review, the
applicant agreed to exclude from the scope of his request any other information that the
Department redacted under section 37. Accordingly, | will not consider the remaining
information to which the Department has applied section 37 in this review.

Accordingly, this review is concerned solely with whether the Department was justified in its
decision to redact certain information from the two reports at issue under sections 29, 35,
and 36 of the FOI Act.

Preliminary Matters

Section 18 of the FOI Act provides for the deletion of exempt information and the granting of
access to a copy of a record with such exempt information removed. This should be done
where it is practicable to do so and where the copy of the record thus created would not be

misleading. However, the Commissioner takes the view that neither the definition of a record

Page 20



nor the provisions of section 18 envisage or require the extracting of particular sentences or
occasional paragraphs from records for the purpose of granting access to those particular
sentences or paragraphs. Generally speaking, therefore, the Commissioner is not in favour
of the cutting or "dissecting" of records to such an extent.

Although | am obliged to give reasons for my decision, section 25(3) of the FOI Act requires
me to take all reasonable precautions in the course of a review to prevent disclosure of
information contained in an exempt record. This means that the extent to which | can

describe the contents of the records is limited.

Analysis and Findings

The records in question

While I am limited in the extent to which | can describe the contents of the records at issue, |
believe it would be useful to provide a brief overview of same. In its submissions to this
Office, the Department provided some background information in respect of the records and

its role in their development.

The Department said that the Company is an independent company and a registered charity.
It said the Company was established by the Government in 1995 and that the first St
Patrick’s Festival (the Festival) organised by the Company took place in 1996. It said the
Department has no oversight of the Company. It said the Company was established to
leverage the Dublin parade/festival to promote the image of Ireland, both nationally and
internationally, with a particular emphasis on Irish street theatre and related opportunities for
education in, and appreciation and experience of, not just street theatre but also Ireland’s
arts and culture.
The Department said that in 2019, it appointed the consultancy company EY to review the
annual Festival to assess the existing delivery model and other possible fit-for-purpose
models for ensuring its successful annual delivery. It said the scope and key objectives of
the review were to:

present the benefits arising from the Festival (economy, social, tourism, community,
culture, heritage, volunteering, nation branding, diplomacy);

consider the current and future perspectives of key stakeholders;

review the delivery of the annual festival including consideration of the cost,
efficiency, effectiveness and sustainability of other models of delivery; and

offer observations, conclusions and recommendations to ensure the sustainable
delivery of an efficient, effective and impactful annual Saint Patrick’s Festival (including

funding, mode of delivery and a vision for the future of the festival).

Page 21



The associated report comprises four parts: part 1 (executive summary), part 2 (review of
status quo), part 3 (delivery model analysis) and part 4 (recommendations).

The Department said that it also commissioned the Institute of Public Administration (IPA) to
undertake an independent review of the governance arrangements at the Company in
relation to the Festival. It said that review commenced in 2020. The relevant record

comprises a draft report of that governance review.

The Department granted partial access to the records in question, with redactions made
under sections 29(1), 35(1)(a), 36(1)(b) of the FOI Act. It also referenced section 18 in its
decision-making records and in submissions to this Office. | will consider the application of
this section below. The information redacted from both reports essentially comprises findings
and recommendations. The Company said it objects to the release of the information in
guestion.

In the interests of clarity and consistency, | have adopted the record numbering system used
by the Department in the schedule provided to this Office. The IPA report is record 1 and the
EY report and its component parts are record 2, part 1, part 2, part 3 and part 4.

Section 29 — deliberative process

Section 29(1) provides for the discretionary refusal of a request if (a) the record concerned
contains matter relating to the deliberative processes of an FOI body, including opinions,
advice, recommendations and the results of consultations considered by the body for the
purpose of those processes, and (b) the body considers that the granting of the request

would be contrary to the public interest.

Section 29 also provides that, without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (b), the FOI
body shall, in determining whether to grant or refuse to grant the request, consider whether
the grant thereof would be contrary to the public interest by reason of the fact that the
requester concerned would thereby become aware of a significant decision that the body
proposes to make. Subsections (a) and (b) are two independent requirements and the fact

that the first is met carries no presumption that the second is also met.

In order for section 29(1) to apply, the records must contain matter relating to the
‘deliberative process’ of an FOI body. An FOI body relying on this exemption should identify
both the deliberative process concerned and any matter in particular records which relates to

these processes.

Page 22



A deliberative process may be described as a thinking process which informs decision
making in FOI bodies. It involves the gathering of information from a variety of sources and
weighing or considering carefully all of the information and facts obtained with a view to
making a decision or reflecting upon the reasons for or against a particular choice. Thus, it
involves the consideration of various matters with a view to making a decision on a particular
matter. It would, for example, include some weighing up or evaluation of competing options
or the consideration of proposals or courses of action. The fact that a deliberative process
exists and is ongoing does not mean that the exemption automatically applies without
consideration of all the provisions of section 29. Equally, the fact that a deliberative process
is at an end does not mean that the exemption automatically does not apply.

The Department argued that all of the information redacted from both records that remains
within scope is exempt under section 29(1), apart from the information redacted from page
30 of record 2, part 2. Its position is that the redacted information relates to matters currently
under deliberation. It said the EY report makes many suggestions as to the potential future
of the festival, who should manage it, format etc. and makes comparisons to international
equivalents. It said these are the matters to be considered and a decision has yet to be
made. It said that the deliberative process will involve the weighing up and evaluation of
considerations made in the reports and that such determinations will affect the Department’s
course of action. It said the deliberations were delayed by the Department’'s need to address
the global pandemic and its negative effects on the sectors under its remit. It said the
information is largely made up of opinions, advice and recommendations. It added that the
reports were drafted for internal consideration only and not for wider release. It said the
reports are to be used by the Department in order to consider and draft, if required, an
internal policy in relation to the Festival. It said that the overarching deliberative process
which instigated the reports to begin with is still under review and while many
recommendations were made it is a matter for the Department to ultimately determine if
those recommendations are in fact sound in basis and whether such recommendations

should be implemented taking into account the wider public’s investment in this matter.

The Department further said that because of the delays caused by the pandemic, the matter
is currently in the early stage of deliberations and as such, it argued that the release of the
information would be contrary to the public interest. It said it has a responsibility to consider
the matters thoroughly to ensure any advice taken is in the public’s interest. It said the
current landscape needs to be considered as it is over two years since the reports were

written.

Page 23



Having considered the submissions made and having carefully examined the records, | am
satisfied that the EY report (record 2) contains recommendations, advice and options that
relate to the Department’s deliberative processes as described above. | find that section

29(1)(a) applies to record 2 and its four component parts.

In respect of the IPA report, while | am satisfied that the record contains recommendations,
advice and options, | am not satisfied that they relate to the deliberative process of an FOI
body. In considering whether the matter in the records relates to a deliberative process, |
have considered the FOI body’s role with regard to the Company. The Commissioner has
previously drawn a distinction between an FOI body being engaged in a monitoring or
supervisory role and being engaged in a deliberative process.

The report constitutes a governance review of the Company, which is an independent
company and registered charity. In its submissions, the Department said that it has no
oversight role in respect of the organisation. While 1 am limited in the extent to which | can
describe the contents of the record, | would note that the recommendations therein relate to
the Company and are suggested actions for that entity to take. In its submissions, the
Company provided detail in respect of the recommendations and its implementation of
same. | note that the Company said that it considered that the recommendations of the EY
report “are more properly for the Department to consider and action”. It went on to outline the

actions it had taken in respect of the IPA report.

This Office sought specific submissions from the Department on the question of whether a
deliberative process is in train. In its response, the Department referred specifically to the EY
report and did not reference the IPA report. In earlier submissions it said that it was
considering recommendations made in relation to governance and examining actions taken
by the Company to “ensure all recommendations were accepted and adopted”. While noting
that the Department commissioned the report in question, based on the submissions
received and having reviewed the content of the record, it appears to me that the
Department is undertaking what could be better described as a monitoring role, rather than
engaging in a deliberative process. It does not appear to me to be involved in some weighing
up or evaluation of competing options or the consideration of proposals or courses of action
in respect of the governance of the Company. Accordingly, | find that section 29(1)(a) does

not apply to the information redacted from record 1.

As | have found section 29(1)(a) to apply to the relevant information redacted from record 2,

I must go on to consider subsection (b). The public interest test at section 29(1)(b) is a

Page 24



stronger public interest test than the public interest test in many other sections of the Act
(which require that, on balance, the public interest would be better served by granting than
by refusing to grant the request). Any arguments against release should be supported by the
facts of the case and it should be shown how release would be contrary to the public interest

e.g. by identifying a specific harm to the public interest flowing from release.

There is nothing in the exemption itself which requires the deliberative process to be ongoing
but this issue may be relevant to the issue of the public interest. The Commissioner has
found that the Act clearly envisaged that there will be cases in which disclosure of the details
of an FOI body’s deliberations - whether before or, in some cases, after a decision based on
those deliberations has been made - would be against the public interest. However, this was
not to say that such disclosure is always, as a matter of principle, against the public interest.

The Department’s position is that the release of the withheld information would be contrary
to the public interest as the matter remains under deliberation by the Department. It said that
the information contains opinions, advice and recommendations and that the Department
has a responsibility to consider these matters thoroughly. It also noted that the overarching
deliberative process to which the report relates is ongoing and that it is a matter for the
Department to determine whether the recommendations made have a sound basis and
should be implemented, taking account of the wider public interest in the matter. It said that
release of the information at this time could limit the effectiveness and openness of

discussions around the future strategic direction of the festival.

The Department also identified a public interest in it being able to make informed decisions
in the course of carrying out its functions and said that release of the information at this time
could contaminate the decision making process. It also said that premature disclosure would
impair the integrity and viability of the decision making process to a significant degree
without a countervailing benefit to the public. It also noted that there are broader community

interests which must be considered, apart from those of the Festival.

In further submissions, the Department said that it needs time to consider the reports,
particularly the EY report, to “allow for due diligence to occur” and to “permit an honest and
open deliberation process to take place”. It said that premature release of the reports may
prevent this from happening. It said that the release of the reports out of context has the
potential to cause significant harm to the Festival and the organisation tasked with its
arrangement, particularly in respect of negotiations with private sponsors. It said that the

potential harm could be greatly reduced by allowing the process to be completed and a

Page 25



policy decision to be made to ensure the public and potential sponsors have confidence in

the security of the future direction of the festival and its organiser.

The Department said that it no longer has an objection to the release of certain information
in the EY report relating to governance. It said that there have been substantial
developments in this area since the FOI request was received and that the public interest
now outweighs the potential harms in relation to this element of the report.

In essence, the Department’s arguments appear to be that the premature release of
information from the reports before the deliberative process has concluded could result in
harms to the Festival and the Company. It said that allowing the process to conclude would
ensure that stakeholders have confidence in the festival and those involved, therefore
implying that such confidence would be undermined should the information be released at
this time.

In addition to the submissions received, | have carefully considered the content of the
records in question. | would note that the public interest in the enhancement of the
transparency and accountability of the Department has already been served, to some extent,
by the partial release of the records in question. | further note the Department’s submissions
in respect of delays to the deliberative process. Generally speaking, it is in the public interest
to ensure that appropriate decisions are made by FOI bodies. | accept that the Department
must have the necessary time and space to engage in deliberative processes that enable
proper consideration of all relevant issues in order to achieve such an outcome. It seems to
me that, in general, undue or unreasonable interference with those processes would be
contrary to the public interest. | accept that the nature of the information and
recommendations contained in the records is such that their release before a policy decision
is made in respect of same could negatively impact certain stakeholders. | accept that
release at this time could result in negative speculation without the mitigation which could be

provided by a policy decision and direction.

In light of the Department’s revised submissions, | am not satisfied that the release of certain
information relating to governance in the records would be contrary to the public interest test
in section 29. However, | will consider this information in the context of other exemption
provisions.

Having considered the position of the Department and the contents of the record, | am
satisfied that release of the majority of the withheld information at this time would be contrary
to the public interest. | find that section 29(1) applies to information withheld from record 2

apart from the following information relating to governance:

Page 26



Record 2, part 1, page 5, governance questions and areas for action
Record 2, part 1, page 10, governance areas for action and possible options
Record 2, part 2, page 5, redactions under “governance model’
Record 2, part 2, pages 21-24 inclusive
Section 29(2)
Section 29(2) provides that subsection (1) does not apply to a record if and in so far as it
contains any or all of the following:
a. matter such as rules, procedures, guidelines, interpretations and precedents used,
or intended to be used, by an FOI body for the purpose of making decisions,
determinations or recommendations;
b. factual information;
c. the reasons for the making of a decision by an FOI body;
d. a report of an investigation or analysis of the performance, efficiency or
effectiveness of an FOI body in relation to the functions generally or a particular
function of the body;
e. a report, study or analysis of a scientific or technical expert relating to the subject of
his or her expertise or a report containing opinions or advice of such an expert and not
being a report used or commissioned for the purposes of a decision of an FOI body

made pursuant to any enactment or scheme.

The Department made submissions in respect of the application of section 29(2). In relation
to subsection b), it noted that, while the reports contain factual information, this is contained
in the information which has been released and much of the factual information is publically
available. Having reviewed the records, it seems to me that certain information in the record,
particularly in part 2 (review of the status quo), comprises factual information.

However, | am satisfied that the release of such information would be contrary to the
provisions of section 18 of the FOI Act. Section 18(1) of the FOI Act provides for the release
of non-exempt material from an otherwise exempt record “if it is practicable to do so”.
Section 18(2) provides that subsection (1) shall not apply in relation to a record if the copy
provided would be misleading. The information in question relates to EY’s findings as part of
the review process which in turn inform recommendations made. It seems to me that the
release of such factual information in this particular case would, of itself, serve to undermine

the protection afforded to the confidentiality of the deliberative process by section 29(1).

In relation to section 29(2)(c), the Department stated that no relevant decision has been

made. In relation to subsection (d), the Department said that reports do not relate to an FOI

Page 27



body. | accept the Department’s submissions in this regard and am satisfied that none of the

other subsections of section 29(2) apply to the withheld information.

In summary, | find that the Department was justified in applying section 29(1) to information
withheld from record 2 (parts 1, 2, 3 and 4) apart from certain information relating to

governance which | have identified above.

Section 36 — commercially sensitive information

In correspondence issued to the applicant, the Department said that it was withholding
information from both reports on the basis of section 36(1)(b). In submissions, the
Department also referenced section 36(1)(c) as applying to information in the records. |
propose commencing my analysis with section 36(1)(b). As | have found that section 29(1)
serves to exempt information from record 2, | will consider the application of section 36(1)(b)

to the remaining information withheld from that record.

Section 36(1)(b)
Section 36(1)(b) provides that an FOI body shall refuse to grant an FOI request if the records

concerned contain financial, commercial, scientific or technical or other information whose
disclosure could reasonably be expected to result in a material financial loss or gain to the
person to whom the information relates, or could prejudice the competitive position of that
person in the conduct of his or her profession or business or otherwise in his or her
occupation.

The essence of the test in section 36(1)(b) is not the nature of the information, but the nature
of the harm that might be occasioned by its release. The harm test in the first part of section
36(1)(b) is that disclosure "could reasonably be expected to result in material loss or gain".
This Office takes the view that the test to be applied is not concerned with the question of
probabilities or possibilities but with whether the decision maker's expectation is reasonable.
The nature of the harm envisaged and a basis for a claim that such harm could reasonably
be expected to result from disclosure of the particular information in the records at issue

should be shown by an FOI body or a third party relying on this provision.

The harm test in the second part of section 36(1)(b) is that disclosure of the information
"could prejudice the competitive position" of the person in the conduct of their business or
profession. While the degree of harm required to meet the harm test in the second part of

this provision (“could prejudice”) is lower than that required to meet the test in the first part,

Page 28



the Commissioner takes the view that, in invoking the phrase "prejudice", the damage which

could occur must be specified with a reasonable degree of clarity.

In the High Court case of Westwood Club v The Information Commissioner [2014] IEHC 375,
Cross J made it clear that it is not sufficient for the party relying on section 36(1)(b) to merely
restate the provisions of the section, list the documents and say that they are commercially
sensitive. The FOI body or the third party opposing release should explain why disclosure of
the particular records could prejudice the competitive position of the third party concerned.
When considering the application of section 36(1)(b) in other cases, factors that have been
taken into account by the Commissioner and that may be relevant include: the availability
otherwise of the information and whether it is in the public domain; the passage of time; and
the broader context in the relevant industry.

Section 36(2) provides for a number of exceptions to section 36(1), while section 36(3)
provides that a record to which section 36(1) applies may be granted if the public interest

would, on balance, be better served by granting than refusing to grant the request.

In its submissions, the Department said that the records contain details which are technical
and commercial in nature. It referenced the Company and said that release could result in
substantial financial loss to the company. It said that the festival is not solely funded by
government bodies or agencies and relies on sponsorship and funding from the private
sector. It said that the release of the records, if the information is taken out of context, has
the potential to cause reputational damage to the festival. It argued that release of the
withheld information could prejudice the competitive position of the festival when seeking
investment or sponsorship from the private sector. It said that neither report highlighted any
serious irregularities in relation to governance but identified a need to update some aspects
of governance to bring it into line with current company law. The Department said that
relevant documents, both past and present, are available online through the Companies
Registration Office (CRO). However, it said that information in the records, if taken out of
context, has the potential to cause reputational damage and financial loss. The Department
said that it undertook a verbal consultation with the Company and that its concerns were

similar to that of the Department.

In further submissions, as noted above, the Department said that it “in principle” no longer
has an objection to the release of the IPA report or information in the EY report relating to
governance. It said that there have been substantial developments in respect of governance

since the request was received and that the potential harm of reputational damage has been

Page 29



limited, though not negated entirely. It said that the balance has shifted to a place where

investment “may not be as significantly affected” by release.

Given the nature of the records, this Office sought and received written submissions from the
Company as an affected third party. The Company’s position is that section 36(1)(b) applies
to the records in question.

It said that both reports contain sensitive commercial information the release of which would
potentially harm its business interests as an independent company. It said that the IPA
report contains information which provides insights into the internal operations, strategies
and decision-making processes of the organisation. It said that disclosure of information in
the reports could potentially result in the loss of revenue, sponsorship and commercial
interest in the company. It provided its reasoning in respect of this position which | will not
repeat in full as doing so would risk disclosing information contained in the reports. It
referenced the potential for negative framing and said that release could affect sponsorship
opportunities, business relationships and could provide competitors with valuable insights. It
said that the EY report contains propriety information that the Company identifies as trade
secrets. However, | note that it has not identified any specific such information. It said that
release of the reports could have long-term implications on the Company’s ability to action

planned initiatives.

Before commencing my analysis, | want to address the parties’ submissions that the release
of the records, when taken out of context or framed negatively, could cause harm. This
Office does not generally accept that the possibility that released information will be used in
some particular way, or will be misinterpreted, or will not be properly understood, is a valid
reason for refusing access to the information, nor does the FOI Act provide for the
withholding of information on the grounds that it is factually inaccurate. Apart from anything
else, such arguments appear to be based on an assumption that public bodies are incapable
of explaining their records to the public and are unable to present information to the public in
a way which will allow any objective observer to draw accurate and balanced conclusions.
However, in this case, it is relevant to note that the records relate to the Company which is
not an FOI body.

I have carefully examined the content of the records and taken into account the submissions
made by the parties. While | note the Department’s revised position in respect of the IPA
report and certain other information, | am satisfied that the release of the information in

guestion could reasonably be expected to result in a material financial loss to the Company,

Page 30



or could prejudice its competitive position. While noting that the information contained in the
IPA report is a number of years old and while also noting the third party’s submissions that
actions have been taken in respect of findings therein, given the level of detail and analysis
included in the document | am satisfied that the release of the information could give rise to
reputational damage and prejudice the competitive position of the company in its
engagement with potential sponsors or investors. | am also satisfied that the relevant harms
could flow from the release of governance and commercial supplier information from record
2.

However, | am not satisfied that the relevant harms could be expected to flow from the
release of limited information relating to the board activities of the Company contained in
record 2, part 2, page 21. The information in question is high-level and relates to the typical
activities of the board; the number of meetings and the types of decisions reserved. | do not
accept that the release of this information could reasonably be expected to result in a
material financial loss to the Company, or prejudice its competitive position.

Having carefully considered the information for which section 36(1)(b) has been claimed and
the submissions of the parties, | find that section 36(1)(b) applies to the withheld information
in record 1 and to the remaining withheld information in record 2 (parts 1 and 2) apart from
the limited information relating to the Company board referenced above.

As | have found section 36(1)(b) to apply to the information above, | must go on to consider

the other provisions of section 36 to which subsection (1) is subject.

Sections 36(2) and 36(3)
Section 36(2) provides for the release of information to which section 36(1) is found to apply

in certain circumstances. | am satisfied that none of the circumstances identified at section

36(2) arises in this case.

Section 36(3) provides that section 36(1) does not apply to a case in which the FOI body
considers that the public interest would, on balance, be better served by granting than
refusing to grant the request. In carrying out any review, this Office has regard to the general
principles of openness and transparency set out in section 11(3) of the FOI Act. That section
recognises the need to enhance public scrutiny and accountability of government and public
affairs, particularly the activities and decision making of FOI bodies. However, in a judgment
delivered on 25 September 2020 (The Minister for Communications, Energy and Natural
Resources and the Information Commissioner & Ors, available on our website), the
Supreme Court held that general principles of openness and transparency do not provide a

sufficient basis for directing the release of otherwise exempt information in the public

Page 31



interest. Rather, a “sufficiently specific, cogent and fact-based reason” is required “to tip the
balance in favour of disclosure”.

In its submissions, the Department outlined the public interest factors it considered in its
decision-making. It said that there is a public interest in the relevant company not being
“‘unduly impeded” in the effective pursuit of its business. It said that there is also a public
interest in the Department being able to make informed decisions and maintain the
confidentiality of information given to it. It referenced the public interest in safeguarding the
commercial interests of companies and maintaining the confidentiality of commercial
information held by the Department. It said that large portions of the reports refer to
governance and it stated that relevant documentation in this regard is publically available
from the CRO. In further submissions in support of its revised position in respect of the IPA
report and other information, the Department said that the balance has shifted to a place
where investment “may not be as significantly affected” by release. It said that the public

interest outweighs the potential harms.

The Company also referenced the public interest test in its submissions and said that it is a
charitable organisation that operates on a not-for-profit basis. It said that its positive impact
on tourism, employment in the arts and cultural sectors and civic and community
engagement is “tangible and substantial’. With regard to the IPA report, it said that “no
serious misconduct or scandal was unearthed” and it said that it has resolved and addressed
recommendations. It said that the material under consideration would be out of date and
irrelevant to the current structure and governance of the company. It said that given the
Company’s contribution to the economy and Irish public, the potential harms outweigh the

public interest in releasing the requested information.

In correspondence with this Office, the applicant argued that redactions should be removed
due to the public interest in transparency in respect of the use of public funds. The applicant
also referenced the public interest in good management and governance being applied in

respect of a high profile festival.

It is relevant to note that it is the Department that is subject to the FOI Act and not the
Company. The Act was designed to increase openness and transparency in the way in
which FOI bodies conduct their operations and, in general terms, it was not designed as a
means by which the operations of private enterprises were to be opened up to scrutiny. The
information at issue is concerned with the affairs of the Company. | do not accept that its
release would enhance the transparency or accountability of the Department to the extent

that it would outweigh the public interest in protecting commercially sensitive information of a

Page 32



private enterprise. | note that the records in question have been part-granted and that
information regarding the Festival’'s funding model has been released. | also note that certain
information in respect of the Company and its finances is available via its website and the
CRO.

Having carefully considered the matter, | find no relevant public interest in granting access to
the withheld information which, on balance, outweighs the public interest in protecting its
commercial sensitivity. | therefore consider that the public interest would be better served by

refusing access to the information in question.

Other exemptions claimed
As | have found that sections 29(1) and 36(1)(b) do not apply to limited information in record
2 relating to the board of the Company, | will briefly consider the application of other relevant

exemptions to this information.

Section 36(1)(c)

The Department applied section 36(1)(c) to the information in question and this position was

supported by the Company in its submissions. Subsection (c) provides for the refusal of a
request where disclosure of the record could prejudice the conduct or outcome of contractual
or other negotiations of the person to whom the information relates. | again note the revised
position of the Department in respect of information relating to governance. The Company
said release of information in the reports could impact its bargaining position, giving other
parties an unfair advantage and undermining the company’s ability to negotiate favourable
terms. It also said that disclosure might affect how the company is perceived by potential
sponsors and clients. It also said that partners have an expectation that commercial
arrangements will be treated with confidence. It said that release may raise concerns about

the company’s ability to handle confidential matters.

I have considered the above submissions and the specific information in question. Given the
high-level nature of the detail provided and the fact that it relates to typical board activities, |
am not satisfied that the relevant harms could flow from release. | do not accept that section
36(1)(c) serves to exempt limited information relating to the board activities of the Company

contained in record 2, part 2, page 21.

Section 35(1)

In its submissions, the Company also said that section 35(1) applies to the records. Section

35 is concerned with the protection of information obtained in confidence. Section 35(2)

Page 33



provides that subsection (1) does not apply where a record is prepared by a member of staff
of an FOI body or a service provider, unless disclosure would constitute a breach of a duty of
confidence which is owed to a person other than an FOI body, a member of staff of an FOI
body or service provider. The record at issue was created by a service provider appointed by
the Department. | note that the Department has not claimed the application of this exemption

in respect of the information in question.

The Company made submissions in respect of the application of section 35(1)(a). It's
submissions largely relate to the IPA report but it also stated that “given the commercially
sensitive nature of some of the material being provided to the reviewing bodies, [the
Company] sought assurances that the information given by interviewees and through desk
research would be treated as confidential”. In order to establish that an equitable duty of
confidence exists, it should be shown that the information has the necessary quality of
confidence. Factors relevant for consideration in this regard include, for example, whether
the information is confidential or secret or concerns private matters. Having considered the
limited information in question, | am not satisfied that the information has the necessary
guality of confidence about it. As | have outlined above, it is high-level information relating to
the typical activities of the board; the number of meetings and the types of decisions
reserved. | find that the release of the relevant part of the record would not constitute a
breach of an equitable duty of confidence owed to the Company. Accordingly, | find that,
pursuant to section 35(2), section 35(1) does not serve to exempt limited information relating

to the board activities of the Company contained in record 2, part 2, page 21.

Summary of Findings

In summary, | find that the Department was justified in refusing access to information in
record 2 (parts 1-4) under section 29(1) of the FOI Act. | find that section 29(1) does not
apply to information withheld from record 1 or certain information in record 2 (parts 1 and 2).
| find that section 36(1)(b) applies to the information withheld from record 1 and certain other
information in record 2 (parts 1 and 2). | find that the Department was not justified in refusing
access to certain limited information in record 2 (part 2, page 21) and | direct the release of

same.

Decision
Having carried out a review under section 22(2) of the FOI Act, | hereby vary the
Department’s decision. | find that the Department was justified in refusing access to certain

withheld information on the basis of sections 29(1) and 36(1)(b). I find that it was not justified

Page 34



in refusing access to the information redacted from page 21 of record 2, part 2 and | direct its

release.

Right of Appeal

Section 24 of the FOI Act sets out detailed provisions for an appeal to the High Court by a
party to a review, or any other person affected by the decision. In summary, such an appeal,
normally on a point of law, must be initiated by the applicant not later than eight weeks after
notice of the decision was given, and by any other party not later than four weeks after

notice of the decision was given.

Stephen Rafferty

Senior Investigator

Page 35



To the Members of the Protocol Committee

Comhai}rle Cathrach
i Bhaile Atha Cliath
i Dublin City Council

Request for Lighting of City Hall

Earlier in 2023 requests to illuminate City Hall in September, October and November 2023
were approved by the Protocol Committee. The Committee agreed to the following requests.

e Palliative Care Week on 11™ September 2023
e International Trigeminal Neuralgia Awareness Day on 7" October 2023
e Awareness for Complex Regional Pain Syndrome on 6" November 2023

However, in recent weeks additional requests for the illumination of City Hall for those months
have been received. The agreed lighting policy is to approve twelve lighting requests per year
(one per month) although the Members may vary this at their discretion. Outlined below are
the additional requests received.

Children’s Health Ireland to mark World Sepsis Day on 13" September 2023

e Shine Irish Mental Health Charity to support Awareness Campaign in September 2023
e Irish Deaf Society to support International Week of the Deaf on 23 September 2023.
e Recovery Academy Ireland for International Recovery Day on 30" September 2023

e Family Carers Ireland to mark European Carers Day on 6th October 2023

e CARE to mark International Day of the Girl on 11" October 2023

e Stillbirth & Neonatal Death Association of Ireland to support Wave of Light Campaign
on 15" October 2023

e Developmental Language Disorder Awareness day on 20th of October 2023
e Bram Stoker Festival to “Go Red” from 26"-30™" October 2023 in support of the Festival
e Turkish Embassy in Dublin to mark Turkish National Day on 29th October 2023

e Alzheimer's Awareness Day on 2nd November 2023

Michael Gallagher
Senior Staff Officer

Page 36



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 29th June 2023 and matters arising
	Minutes

	4 Lord Mayors Receptions and Engagements of the Deputy Lord Mayor
	Receptions - August 2023

	6a) Councillor Declan Flanagan and Councillor Joe Costello: AILG Module 4 on 22nd July 2023 in County Sligo.
	Joe Costello Conference Report Form AILG Module 4

	6b) Councillor Dermot Lacey: MacGill Summer School on 16th August 2023 in Glenties, County Donegal.
	6c) Councillor Darcy Lonergan: Retrofitting Ireland: Building Resilience in Irish Homes" held on 28th July 2023 in County Limerick.
	9 Policy regarding Maximum / Minimum Temperatures in City Hall
	12a) Correspondence from the Acting Chairperson of the St. Patrick's Festival
	12b) Decision by the Office of the Information Commissioner in relation to the Governance Report on the Board St. Patrick's Festival
	13c) Additional requests to illuminate City Hall in September, October and November 2023

